UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

١

Fake news affecting real brands

Persuasive factors influencing Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands

Nina Perik

University of Twente

Master Communication Science 11-07-2021

Fake news affecting real brands: Persuasive factors influencing Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands

Nina Perik

Department of Behavioral, Management and Social Sciences

Master thesis Communication Science

First supervisor: Prof. Dr. M. D. T. de Jong

Second supervisor: Dr. R. S. Jacobs

11 July 2021

Abstract

Aim - Due to the enormous growth of social media, fake news is spreading faster than ever before. Fake news about brands, the focus area of this research, has increasingly become a threat to organizations in the last years. Little is known about why the misinformation spread via fake news is often accepted by the readers. When there is a clearer understanding of what makes fake news so compelling to accept, people can be informed and protected in a better way against fake news. Therefore, this research aims at examining if the persuasive factors authority and social proof influence the acceptance of fake news about brands.

Method - An experimental study with a 2x2 between-subjects factorial design was executed. The research materials for this study consisted out of four fictional Facebook posts inspired by existing fake news posts whose information could harm the reputation and business of a brand. For every brand, four versions of the fake news post were created. Three dependent variables, brand attitude, credibility, and newsworthiness, were measured trough a questionnaire. The sample of this study were Dutch citizens above the age of 18 (N=310).

Results – The data of this study showed a significant difference in the acceptance of fake news between people who are familiar with the concept of fake news and those who are not. People that are aware of the spread of fake news and indicated to know how to detect misinformation had a lower acceptance of misinformation. This group of people's acceptances did not get significantly influenced by the peripheral cues' authority and social proof. For people who were not familiar with fake news the peripheral cues of authority significantly influenced their acceptance of fake news. For both groups, no interaction effect between authority and social proof was found.

Conclusions - This study claims that the persuasive principles of authority and social proof will not influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands if these people

are already aware of the existence of fake news. However, social media users that are not familiar with the concept can be influenced by the principle of authority and have in general a higher acceptance of fake news than people who are familiar with fake news. In order to combat the negative effects of fake news about brands, it is important that society keeps getting informed about fake news and misinformation and that tools are provided to recognize such fake news.

Preface

During my master course, I got intrigued by the concept of fake news and its persuasiveness. I started wondering how is it possible that so many of us accept the lies we are told online without considering them twice? This led me to the research question of my thesis: "*To which extent do the persuasive factors influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands?*". After months of researching, I am happy to present my answer and the process of the research itself in this master thesis.

I would like to thank both my supervisors Menno de Jong and Ruud Jacobs for their help and support during my master thesis. I have benefited greatly from their knowledge and critical questions that helped me improve my master thesis and made it possible for me to develop myself further as a researcher.

Lastly, for everyone reading my master thesis, I hope the topic of fake news will intrigue you as much as it did to me and that you will enjoy reading the paper.

Nina Perik

Contents

ABSTRACT	3
PREFACE	5
1. INTRODUCTION	7
2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	10
2.1 FAKE NEWS	10
2.2 THE ACCEPTATION OF MISINFORMATION	12
2.3 CIALDINI'S PRINCIPLES OF PERSUASION	14
2.4 Changing brand attitude, credibility, and newsworthiness	19
2.5 CONCEPTUAL RESEARCH MODEL	21
3. METHOD	22
3.1 RESEARCH DESIGN	22
3.2 RESEARCH MATERIALS	22
3.3 Measurements	26
3.4 PARTICIPANTS	30
3.5 PROCEDURE	31
4. RESULTS	33
4.2 MAIN EFFECTS	35
4.3 INTERACTION EFFECTS AUTHORITY AND SOCIAL PROOF	36
4.4 Additional analyses	37
5. DISCUSSION	41
5.1 Main Findings	41
5.2 THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS	44
5.3 LIMITATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH	45
5.5 CONCLUSION	47
REFERENCES	49
APPENDIX 1 – FAKE NEWS POSTS FACEBOOK	55
APPENDIX 2 – TABLE 8	63

1. Introduction

In the beginning of 2014, the Facebook page "The Hidden Truth" claimed that human meat was found in the freezers of 90% of the McDonald's meat factories. This post without any evidence or reliable source was viewed by more than 50.000 Facebook users (Swenson, 2020). Via digital word of mouth, the fake news about the food quality of McDonald's went on: beaks and feet in McNuggets, mysterious pink slime in the Big Mac, and plastic eggs in the McMuffin. The effect was that consumers' perception of McDonald's food quality started to decline drastically and consumers threatened to boycott the company (Burnett, 2018; Taylor, 2016). McDonald's is not the only brand that had to deal with the negative effects of fake news. A study by Reber et al. (2018) states that 20% of all organizations experiences the negative consequences of fake news on their reputation. 80% of this fake news gets spread via social media (Reber et al., 2018).

In the Netherlands, a large part of the younger generation uses social media as their primary news source (Commissariaat voor de Media, 2020). This media shift is also increasingly evident among older generations. Indeed, social media is increasingly becoming a news source for all generations in the Netherlands. This news media shift is expected to increase over the upcoming years (Commissariaat voor de Media, 2020).

The rise of social media did not only cause a media shift, but it also teared down the barriers for creating and spreading content (Robinson & DeShano, 2011). Nowadays, it is easier than ever before to share information with the world, this also includes misinformation and fake news. It can be expected that these two developments and namely, the media shift and the ease with which (mis)information can be created and disseminated, will be accompanied by the spread of more fake news and by the occurrence of all their negative consequences (Menczer & Hills, 2020).

The importance of understanding and combating fake news is reflected in the increased number of studies devoted to this topic (Lazer et al. 2018; Flostrand et al., 2019; Allcott and Gentzkow 2017; Gabrielkov et al., 2016). However, most studies focus on fake news regarding political issues and conspiracy theories. Fake news in the context of brands is a relatively less researched subject (Jang & Kim, 2018). In multiple theories about the acceptance of fake news, information overload is mentioned as the culprit (Horne & Adah 2017; Robinson & DeShano, 2011; Gabrielkov et al, 2016). The information overload forces people to use quick heuristic and make a rapid ill-considered judgment about information.

Cialdini (2007) identified seven persuasive principles that can capitalize heuristics and the theory has been extensively used in the field of marketing. However, in the context of fake news, the effects of these principles have not been studied yet. Nevertheless, it is conceivable that some of these principles may also be relevant in the context of this study. To examine this, the paper at hand will investigate the influence of authority and social proof on the acceptance of fake news. These two principles appear to be the most relevant in the context of fake news. The principle of authority revolves around the fact that people are thought since a young age that it is rewarded to follow an authority figure or an expert (Cialdini, 2007). The principle of social proof states that people observe the behaviors and opinions of others to guide or validate their own (Cialdini, 2007).

When there is a clearer understanding of what makes fake news so compelling to accept, people can be informed and protected in a better way against fake news. In advertising, for instance, consumers develop knowledge about persuasion techniques. This knowledge helps the consumer to realize when and how marketers are trying to influence them (Friestad & Wright, 1994). It is conceivable that the same effect will happen in the context of fake news. If people better understand how fake news is trying to persuade them, they might reject the

misinformation. Therefore, is it important to find out which persuasive factors influence the acceptance of fake news; this is the gap that the research described in this paper aims to fill.

To contribute to the literature on the acceptance of fake news about brands, the current study aims to answer the following research question: "*To which extent do the persuasive principles authority and social proof influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands?*"

2. Theoretical framework

2.1 Fake news

Lazer et al. (2018) define the term "fake news" as "fabricated information that mimics news media content in form but not in organizational process or intent" (p. 1094). The outlets that produce fake news lack the norms and processes that official media outlets have to assure their readers with the truthfulness and credibility of the information (Lazer et al., 2018). Allcott and Gentzkow (2017) describe fake news as "news articles that are intentionally and verifiably false and could mislead readers" (p. 213). They state that the creators of fake news are aware of the misinformation they are spreading and that the aim is to mislead readers with misinformation (Allcott & Gentzkow, 2017).

The exponential growth of social media has played an important role in the spread of fake news. It has changed the way people search and consume news and shifted journalism in multiple ways. For example, alongside the rise of social media, the barriers for producing content went down. Creating and publishing news content was all of a sudden possible for everyone and not only for journalists themselves (Robinson & DeShano, 2011). Thereby, the distribution mechanisms for news become more efficient now that links to online content are easily shared via social media networks such as Facebook, WhatsApp, and Instagram (Mills, 2012). People are welcoming this new way of consuming news and have come to trust Facebook posts as much as newsletter articles (Tandoc & Lim, 2017).

In general, people associate the term "fake news" with politics, but fake news is also a growing threat for brands, the focus area of this study. Brands endure several risks when they are the target of fake news. These risks are for instance declining brand trust, purchase intention, or positive word of mouth (Flostrand et al., 2019). For instance, in 2016, Pepsi's stock value decreased by 4% when a fake news article about their CEO telling Trump supporters to "take

their business elsewhere" went viral (Berthon et al., 2018). When brands sponsor internet pages containing fake news, the risk is that consumers will likely interpret that the brand supports fake news (Berthon et al., 2018). For example, Kellogg Co. experienced a backlash when they sponsored Breitbart, a website known for posting fake news. The brand received a lot of criticism when this fact was pointed out on social media. As a result, the brand felt compelled to remove all the ads on the website (the Guardian, 2016).

Allcott and Gentzkow (2017) distinguish two main motives behind fabricating fake news namely, ideological motives and financial motives. Fabricators of fake news with an ideological motive aim to promote certain ideas or people by disgracing others. An example here is how the shoe brand New Balance got dragged into the presidential elections of 2016. A New Balance spokesperson said that Obama let them down on the Trans-Pacific partnership and that with Trump 'things will move into the right direction'. Trump supporters rephrased the quote on the internet and made it look like the company felt totally let down by Obama and was now supporting Trump. This led to many Republicans praising the shoes as a brand for white Americans, and Democrats to burn their New Balance sneakers (Obada, 2019).

A financial motive for sharing fake news is that the latter is often more entertaining than the truth itself and result in more clicks and viewers that are convertible in ad-revenues (Allcott & Gentzkow, 2017). Creating and spreading fake news has become a business model where the money derives from ads, provided by self-service ad technology of companies like Facebook Ads, AppNexus and Google (Reilly, 2018). Creators of fake news set up a website, install ads on it, create content and make it go viral. Successful websites can earn up to thousands of dollars every month. In 2018, it was estimated that most fake news got spread via a network of 40 fake news websites, jointly responsible for 750 fake news articles a month (Reilly, 2018).

A competitor could also be responsible for the spreading of fake news. By putting the competition in a bad day light, they might benefit from this themselves. A study from the University of British Columbia (2017), examined real-life cases of companies spreading fake news about competitors. It was discovered that, while the fake news could cause great damage to the company that is the victim of the fake news, the company who spread the misinformation can experience an even greater backlash. The company that concocted the story would experience significant longer backlash when the news appeared to be false than the victimized company (University of British Columbia, 2017). However, hurting a competitor is not the only financial motive. Financial actors have interest in reducing the share price of a company by circulating false information to influence the stock market (Siering et al., 2021). An example of fake news affecting an organization's share price is given by a fake news story that went viral about Steve Jobs dying from a heart attack in 2008. This led to Apple's shares' value decreasing by 10% in only 10 minutes (Hargreaves, 2008). More recently, the British Metro Bank's shares' value fell by 11% due to fake news rumors shared on social media that the bank was facing financial difficulties and would soon go bankrupt. A study by the University of Baltimore (2019) showed that fake news has cost the stock market 39 billion dollar (University of Baltimore; CHEQ, 2019). The study found that 0.05% of the stock market's value is threatened by fake news.

2.2 The acceptation of misinformation

Now, the question is how readers accept fake news and which are the elements that make a misinformation message believable and, therefore, accepted? In 2016, an analysis made of 2.8 million tweets containing news articles showed that 59% of the tweets were shared without opening the link to the relevant news article (Gabrielkov et al., 2016). While it may seem ill-considered to share a news article online by only reading the headline, this is also how we

communicate offline. In our day-to-day life, we assume that our interlocutors contribute relevant information that is truthful (Grice, 1975; Sperber & Wilson, 1986). When there are no reasons to question the information, an interlocutor is giving, people often accept the content without thinking twice, which leads to many misjudgments (Schwarz, 1994).

Horne and Adah (2017) examined the mental process of a person when reading news messages on social media and what are their motivation and reasoning to reject or accept the information. What was discovered is that due to the information overload on social media, people are often forced to use quick heuristics to obtain information and decide whether or not they trust the message. These heuristics are often mental shortcuts and look for peripheral cues (Horne & Adali, 2017). In line with the study of Horne and Adah, Greifeneder et al. (2021) describe that people evaluate the credibility of a message via an intuitive evaluation in a fast and effortless process and that people are only more likely to do an analytic evaluation when their instincts tell them something may be wrong. During this evaluation people consider some of the five truth criteria: compatibility, coherence, credibility, consensus and evidence (Greifeneder et al., 2021). These truth criteria can be related to the heuristics people use to accept or reject information and can be perhaps influenced by peripheral cues. In table 1 the five truth criteria are further clarified.

Table 1. The five truth criteria to evaluate the credibility of a message (Greifeneder et al., 2021, p.74)

Criterion	Analytic evaluation	Intuitive evaluation
Compatibility: Is it	Is this compatible with the knowledge	Does this make me stumble
compatible with other	retrieved from memory or obtained	or does it flow smoothly?
things I know?	from trusted sources?	

Coherence: Is it internally	Do the elements fit together in a logical	Does this make me stumble
coherent?	way? Do the conclusions follow from	or does it flow smoothly?
	what is presented?	
Credibility: Does it come	Does the source have the relevant	Does the source feel familiar
from a credible source?	expertise, a vested interest? Is the	and trustworthy?
	source trustworthy?	
Consensus: Do other	What do my friends say? What do	Does it feel familiar?
Consensus : Do other people believe it?	What do my friends say? What do opinion polls say?	Does it feel familiar?
		Does it feel familiar? Does some evidence easily
people believe it?	opinion polls say?	
people believe it? Evidence : Is there	opinion polls say? Is there supportive evidence in peer-	Does some evidence easily
people believe it? Evidence : Is there	opinion polls say? Is there supportive evidence in peer- reviewed scientific articles or credible	Does some evidence easily

2.3 Cialdini's Principles of Persuasion

Every day, people deal with innumerable stimuli, overflowing information, and hundreds of decisions to make. In order to live efficiently, most of the time, people rely on mental shortcuts and heuristics to guide their attitudes and behaviors (Cialdini, 2007). A way to capitalize on these heuristics is to use persuasive tactics. Cialdini identified seven conceptually independent principles of persuasion: (1) authority, (2) liking, (3) consistency, (4) social proof, (5) scarcity, (6) reciprocity and (7) unity. These seven principles operate outside of the conscious awareness and are essential in today's message-dense society. Nowadays, the theory has been extensively used in marketing to understand the persuasiveness of content (Cialdini, 2007). However, in the context of fake news, the effects of these principles have not been studied yet.

Nevertheless, due to the reason that people use quick heuristics to evaluate information that can be influenced by peripheral cues, the theory of Cialdini can perhaps give a better insight on the acceptance of fake news. In this study, the effect of two of these principles and namely, authority and social proof, on the acceptance of fake news will be examined. The reason to choose for these two principles is that authority and social proof might be able to influence a reader's intuitive assessment of truth. Peripheral cues of the principle of authority could persuade a reader in thinking the information they are reading is trustworthy and, therefore, result in a higher credibility. Peripheral cues of social proof could result in a higher consensus and persuade the reader in thinking others believe the information they are reading.

By not examining the effect of the other five principles the study at hand is not claiming that these principles are irrelevant however, they are a less obvious choice. Scarcity is persuasive due to the fact that things can be perceived more valuable when there is a limited availability and reciprocity revolves around the fact that people feel the need to return favors. The principle of consistency focuses on the fact that people like to be consistent in their thoughts and actions. Three principles that can be from great value in the field of marketing but are less relevant when it comes to fake news. The principles of liking and unity need to be customized for every participant because they will all have different interests and preferences. In the research at hand, there are not the resources to properly examine these principles. Thus, the effect of authority and social proof will be examined in the study at hand.

2.3.1 Authority

From the day we were born, we have learned that following and obeying an authority is rewarded and defiance of authority is punished (Cialdini, 2007). With the principle of authority, Cialdini states that there is "a deep-seated sense of duty to authority within us all" (Cialdini, 2007, p. 213). Complying with an authority is often more favorable, because they have more knowledge about a situation. In an uncertain situation, an authority can, therefore, offer an efficient shortcut to a good decision without the need to process all the important information (Cialdini, 2001). For this very reason, we often follow authority without consciously thinking

about whether or not the authority is trustworthy (Cialdini, Influence: The psychology of persuasion, 2007).

But, when it comes to information, who can exert this authority and how? A typology that is often used by social scientists to interpret authority is Weber's typology of authority (1946). Weber outlined three main types of authority and namely a traditional, a charismatic, and a legal or rational one (Ritzer, 1991). Traditional authority is a type of authority, where the power arises from a long-standing custom. Examples of traditional authority are patriarchy, the church or the royal family. With charismatic authority, the power derives from their personal qualities. These authority figures have a personality that inspires others, their actions and ideas are there for followed (Ritzer, 1991). The last type of authority outlined by Weber is validated by laws and referred to as rational-legal authority. The authority is based on a system with rules and the right of those appointed to an authority role to issue commands (Weber, 1968). A police officer is an example of a rational-legal authority.

Weber's typology is often used in the context of politics and not in the context of the acceptance of information. This can perhaps be explained by the criticism the typology has received. For many decades there has been a wide discussion going if Weber's typology is thorough enough. Many argue that not all cases of authority can be explained by Weber's three types of authority. Especially a non-formal form of rational authority is missing in the eyes of critics. When it comes to authority figures such as doctors, experts, or professionals, the current three types are not suitable enough (Guzmán, 2014).

Van Leeuwen (2007) extended the typology by two other types of authority that are also more compatible for the focus area of this paper. The first addition is the expert authority, this form of authority derives from expertise rather than status. This form of authority can, for example, be demonstrated in a message by mentioning credentials or the experts themselves (e.g., Dutch Dental Associations say that brushing your teeth twice a day is not enough) or when the source itself is an expert (van Leeuwen, 2007). Lastly, van Leeuwen added the authority of conformity. According to the authority principle, a message is believed because other people do it as well. This form of authority radiates often through high frequency modality e.g., the majority of students bought their books online (van Leeuwen, 2007).

Authority can make information more credible and trustworthy and can result in a higher acceptance of the information (Greifeneder et al., 2021). When a fake news message radiates authority, for example by mentioning experts or credible sources, it is expected that the reader will feel like they can trust the information and, therefore, accept the fake news.

H1: The use of authority positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media.

2.3.2 Social proof

In the 1950s, Solomon Asch conducted conformity experiments to study to which degree a person's own opinion is influenced by that of a group (Asch, 1956). During his experiment, he made groups consisting of seven to nine participants, all but one of these participants were pretending to be subjects and gave on purpose the wrong answer to the questions. The real subject, who always answered the question second to last, confirmed the wrong answer of the group in most cases. About three-quarters of the participants in the experiment went along with the group at least one time. Afterwards, when the participants were informed about the aim of the experiment, they gave different reasons why they conformed with the wrong answer of the group. They stated that they felt pressure from the group but also that they were questioning themselves and believed that the group must have been right (Allcott & Gentzkow, 2017). The experiment of Asch is a good example of the persuasive principle social proof.

The principle of social proof states that people observe the behaviors and opinions of others in order to guide or validate their own. The principle derives from two forceful social pressures: social comparison and conformity (Cialdini, 2007). Social comparison refers to the fact that individuals compare their behavior and thoughts to those of other people. If there is a

difference between the other persons and themselves, oftentimes they will doubt themselves and feel the need to adjust their behavior or thoughts. Most of the time, social comparison happens unconsciously, people are not aware of the fact that they are comparing their own behaviors to others and adjusting them (Wood, 1996).

On the other hand, conformity refers to the fact that people do not like to feel uncertain, when they find themselves in a situation where they do not know what to do or to think, they will follow the crowd (Cialdini 2007). In a situation that a person reads fake news on social media and is unsure whether or not to believe the information, seeing confirming comments and likes of others can convince a person that the misinformation is trustworthy.

When it comes to the effect of social proof on social media behaviors, several studies showed that comments and reactions can have an impact on a person's opinion and behavior (Hilverda et al., 2018). When more evident examples of social proof like comments are not available, a person might look for more subtle hints of social proof (Hilverda et al., 2018). These subtle hints can refer to the amount of likes a post has or the number of comments and shares. Cues such as likes and shares indicate that there is interest in the post and that people support it and it is likely that this will influence a person's behavior (Muscanell et al., 2014). This way of thinking is supported by a study by Lee et al. (2015), which showed that likes on Facebook positively influence the sales rate of products. The study mainly focuses on the more commercial aspects of social proof in social media (lee et al., 2015). It is unclear whether the effect of social proof also works on the acceptance of information.

Based on this information, it is hypothesized that cues of social proof in social media posts containing fake news will result in a higher acceptance of this fake news. These cues may include signs of social proof in the content of the post as well as more subtle social proof hints like numbers of likes and shares. H2: The use of social proof positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media.

It is expected that authority and social proof both independently have an impact on the acceptance of fake news. However, besides testing the expected influence of authority and social proof on the acceptance of fake news separately, this study tests whether these factors interact with each other as well. Cialdini stated that the principles of persuasion are most effective when they are combined (Cialdini, 2001). Therefore, it is hypothesized that there is an interaction effect between authority and social proof that influences the acceptance of fake news.

H3: The effect of authority in combination with social proof results in a higher acceptance of fake news on social media as compared to when the two principles are used independently.

2.4 Changing brand attitude, credibility, and newsworthiness

In the past literature of fake news, there are no methods yet defined on how to measure the acceptance of fake news. Therefore, the study at hand will use three indicators to examine if the misinformation in the message gets accepted or not. These indicators are a change in brand attitude, the credibility of a message and the perceived newsworthiness.

2.4.1 Changing brand attitude

Brand attitude is the impression or opinion a person has about a brand (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). In the Elaboration Likelihood Model (1986), Petty and Cacioppo describe two routes a person can take to change their attitude about a brand. When a person adopts the central route, a change in brand attitude will be the result of thorough consideration. By adopting the peripheral route, the change in brand attitude is the result of associating the brand with positive or negative cues within the context of persuasion (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986). Cues of authority

and social proof are expected to influence a reader's peripheral route and therefore also result in a change in brand attitude. Thus, changing brand attitude will be used as an indicator of the acceptance of the fake news message.

2.4.2 Credibility

Credibility of a message can be defined as an overarching evaluation of the objectiveness of the message (Sundar, 1998) or the perceived quality of a message based on various factors such as trustworthiness and expertise (Chung et al., 2012). A higher credibility of a message results in a greater acceptance of the information contained in the message (Appelman & Sundar, 2015). For this reason, will the perceived credibility of a message serve as an indicator for the acceptance of the fake news message.

2.4.3 Newsworthiness

Newsworthiness refers to information that is interesting or meaningful enough for society to be reported by the media and protects the publication of true information (Bahadur, 2019). Appelman and Sundar (2015), argue that the perceived newsworthiness of information can predict whether the message is perceived as truthful (Appelman & Sundar, 2015). Therefore, the perceived newsworthiness will be used as an indicator of the acceptance of the fake news message.

2.5 Conceptual research model

Figure 1 gives a visual overview of the conceptual research model. In table 2, the formulated hypotheses that will be analyzed in this study are presented.





Table 2. Overview of hypotheses

Hypotheses	Expected effect
H1: The use of authority positively influences	The acceptance of fake news is higher when cues of
people's acceptance of fake news on social	authority are implemented in the message
media.	
H2: The use of social proof positively influences	The acceptance of fake news is higher when cues of
people's acceptance of fake news on social	social proof are implemented in the message
media.	
H3: The effect of authority in combination with	The acceptance of fake news is higher when cues of
social proof results in a higher acceptance of	authority in combination with cues of social proof are
fake news on social media as compared to when	implemented in the message
the two principles are used independently.	

3. Method

3.1 Research design

To investigate the effects of authority and social proof on the acceptance of fake news, an experimental study with a 2x2 between-subjects factorial design was executed. To manipulate the independent variables, authority and social proof, four variants of fake news posts were created. The dependent variables were changing brand attitude, impression, and credibility. The dependent variables were used to measure the acceptance of fake news. Participants were randomly assigned to one of the four experimental conditions.

3.2 Research materials

The research materials for this study consisted of four fictional Facebook posts containing fake news. Every participant saw a total of four facebook posts. The reason to show four different post of four different brands to every participant was to avoid bias caused by brand preference. The posts were based on or inspired by existing fake news posts found on the internet, whose information could harm the reputation and business of a brand. In order to find the inspiration for the fake news posts, the researcher visited various websites and Facebook pages that are known for posting fake news. The fake news articles shared on these platforms were analyzed and selected on different aspects such as relevance for the Dutch population, brand awareness and period the article got spread. All articles used as inspiration were fact checked to make sure the content of the articles was false.

The four fake news stories were about existing brands that were probably known by most participants, namely Coca-Cola, Apple, L'Oréal, and Houseparty. All Facebook posts were written in Dutch (the examples shown are translated to English). Most posts were inspired by fake news messages written in English. For the translation from English to Dutch three master students, including the researcher herself, translated the fake news articles. The content of the

posts later got checked on spelling and grammar by a student of the master Dutch Studies to avoid bias caused by grammar mistakes. Dutch Facebook posts can be found in appendix 1.

3.2.1 Selection of companies and fake news

Fake news Coca-Cola

The first Facebook post was about Coca-Cola and its product Dasani water. The fake news story claimed that thousands of bottles were contaminated with a parasite and that hundreds of people were hospitalized with symptoms like diarrhea, nausea and fever.

Fake news Apple

The second Facebook post contained misinformation about the brand Apple. According to the fake news story, Apple slows down old iPhone models by means of software updates, in order to sell more new iPhones.

Fake news L'Oréal

L'Oréal was the subject of the third Facebook post. The fake news story lashed out to the brand L'Oréal for testing their make-up on cats, to sell to the Chinese market. In particular, the post asked people to prevent the company from testing such products on cats.

Fake news Houseparty

The last Facebook post contained misinformation about the brand Houseparty. The post claimed that, despite the success of the app at the beginning of the year, at that moment, it was facing serious backlash since the company would sell the data of its users to third parties.

3.3.1 Manipulations

For every brand, four versions of the fake news post were created. Apart from the manipulations, all versions contained the same content. In the following part, it will be explained how the manipulations clearly differenaited the conditions from each other.

Authority

For the manipulations, two types of authority were used, namely the expert authority and rational-legal authority. Expert authority can be demonstrated in a message by mentioning credentials, quoting experts, or when the source of the message is an expert (van Leeuwen, 2007). Signs of expert authority have been incorporated into the message by mentioning subject-matter experts that could feel familiar to the participants. For the rational-legal authority organizations appointed to an authority role such as the Netherlands National Committee for the protection of animals used for animal testing, were mentioned. As fake news most is often spread via unreliable sources, the researcher chose not to manipulate the source of the Facebook post into a reliable expert. An example of how a post got manipulated with the principle of authority can be seen in figure 2.

Figure 2. Two fake news posts Coca-Cola, no signs of authority (left) and signs of authority (right)





Social proof

On social media, subtle hints of social proof can influence a person's opinion and behavior. These subtle hints can refer to the amount of likes a post has or the number of comments and shares. Cues as likes and shares indicate that there is interest in the post and that people support it and it is likely that this will influence a person's behavior (Muscanell et al., 2014). Therefore, signs of social proof have been incorporated into the message by showing a high numbers of likes and comments on the posts. This hint of social proof is accompanied by signs of social proof in the news itself. In figure three an example is given how the fake news posts got manipulated with social social proof. Table 3 provides a complete overview of all manipulations for both authority and social proof.

Figure 3. Two fake news posts L'Oréal, no signs of authority (left) and signs of authority (right)





L'Oréal is guilty of testing make-up on animals. The company claims to be against animal abuse, but nevertheless tests many products on cats. L'Oréal says that this is necessary because otherwise the products cannot be sold on the Chinese market. The animals live in terrible conditions and therefore I call on everyone to ask the brand to stop these cruel tests! Meanwhile, more than 3,000 people have signed the petition, do you help us too?

...



🖒 Like 🗘 Comment 🖒 Share

Facebook post	Manipulations authority	Manipulations social proof
Coca-Cola	The content contained an advice of	The post stated that social media was
	the Dutch Association for Parasitology	full of message of people claiming to be
		sick of the parasite.
Apple	The news of the post was based on a	The post claimed that thousands of
	research of Harvard University	victims want to sue Apple.
L'Oréal	The post claimed that the information	A petition was addressed that asked
	given was confirmed by the	L'Oréal to stop testing on animals.
	Netherlands National Committee for	According to the post over 3000 people
	the protection of animals used for	signed the petition.
	animal testing.	
Houseparty	In the content of the post is added	The post addresses the fact that a large
	that the Dutch privacy authority is	amount of the users already deleted
	warning consumers for the dangers of	their account.
	the app.	

Table 3. Overview of manipulations per Facebook post

3.3 Measurements

To measure the effects of authority and social proof on the acceptance of fake news, three constructs were measured. The first construct measured the participants change in brand attitude, the second construct measured the impression of the post, and the third construct measured the credibility of the information. For each construct, the seven-point Likert Scale was used (from strongly disagree to strongly agree). Participants could express how much they agreed or disagreed with statements in the questionnaire. Some of the statements were inspired or borrowed from other studies or theories. Other statements were constructed for this specific research. For each construct, the statements of the survey are discussed below.

Changing brand attitude

Immediately following the Facebook posts, questions were asked to see if there had been a shift in the participant's brand attitude. This construct had a total of four statements, of which two measured the change in the overall impression of the brand and the other two measured the shift in the trust towards the brand and the purchase intention. For example, the item "After reading this post, my impression of the brand X is more negative" was included. The questions were inspired by the study of Vanwesenbeeck et al. (2017).

Credibility

In order to measure to what extent, the participants accept the fake news, a construct of four statements was created. These statements were inspired by a study of Appelman and Sundar (2015). With their research, they looked at indicators for message credibility. By combining these indicators, they found that it was an appropriate measure for use by communication scholars. For example, the item "I think the post is trustworthy" was included.

Newsworthiness

The impression of the fake news was measured with three self-constructed items. With the items, participants could indicate how interesting, important, and captivating they found the content per post. An example of an item that was included is "I think the post is interesting".

In order to determine whether the various items belonging to a group indeed measure the same factor and to verify the scale construction of the study, a factor analysis was conducted. For this analysis, the rotation method "varimax" was selected. For all four Facebook posts, a separate factor analysis was conducted. The rotated component matrix showed that by removing two items that measure the change in brand attitude, it was possible for each item to measure the one group they were designed to measure, whilst all the scales of change in brand attitude still had a reliable Cronbach's alpha. In table 4, the factor analysis is presented, the total explained variance and eigenvalues were also included. Due to the reason that four separate factor analyses were conducted, these variance and eigenvalue are four separate factor loadings and do not describe one model.

Table 4. Factor loadings	s of the scale items m	leasuring the accer	ptance of fake news.

Construct	Scale items	Houseparty		L'Oréal			Coca-Cola			Apple			
		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Changing brand attitude	My impression of brand X is more	.89			.76			.88			.78		
	negative.												
	My purchase intention in relation to	.92			.89			.89			.93		
	brand X is more negative.												
Newsworthiness	The post is interesting.		.85			.83			.81			.86	
	The post is important.		.81			.79			.77			.82	
	The post is captivating.		.87			.87			.88			.89	
Credibility	The post is credible.			.88			.86			.89			.87
	The post is plausible.			.83			.86			.88			.85
	The post is convincing			.81			.79			.83			.83
	The post is trustworthy			.81			.87			.84			.85
	Eigenvalue	5.56	1.24	0.92	6.14	0.98	0.76	5.35	1.19	1.02	5.70	1.32	0.78
	Explained variance	61.8%	13.8%	10.2%	68.3%	10.8%	8.4%	59.4%	13.3%	11.3%	63.4%	14.7%	8.6%
	Cronbach's alpha α	.89	.91	.94	.85	.92	.95	.74	.92	.93	.80	.91	.96

3.4 Participants

The population of this study are Dutch citizens above the age of 18. Research has shown that at least 30 participants are needed per condition in an experiment (Fink, 1995; Sekeran & Bougie, 2016). For this reason, a minimum number of 120 respondents was aimed for. Convenience sampling was used to reach the participants, via social media the survey was spread.

In total 367 responses were collected, of whom 57 responses were filtered out. The reason for this is that not all participants completed the survey (49) and that others completed the survey in less than five minutes or more than 25 minutes (8). When a participant did not spend the minimum amount of time it is highly unlikely that they completed the experiment with full attention. A duration of more than 25 minutes implies that the participant has not completed the survey in one sitting or with full concentration. This resulted in a total of 310 participants that were included in the analyses.

Table 5 gives an overview of the participants' demographic characteristics. The age of the participants variated between 18 and 73 years (M = 36.9, SD = 13.3). The majority of the participants was female; in total there were 223 female respondents (72%) versus 86 male respondents (28%). About two third of the respondents was highly educated (66%). Considering that participants' gender, age, educational background, and their awareness of fake news may influence the results, it was tested if significant difference existed between the four conditions. A Chi square test showed that no significant difference between the four conditions for gender ($\chi^2(6) = 5.13$, p = .527) and education ($\chi^2(3) = 5.31$, p = .150) was found. In addition, a one-way univariate analysis was conducted to look for a significant difference in age between the conditions. No significant difference was found for the age of the participants (F(3, 306) = 1.23, p=.29).

Moreover, the same analysis was used to test whether the significant difference between the four conditions for prior awareness of fake news, the self-assessed ability to recognize fake news and the frequency participants saw similar posts on their own social media. Again, no significant difference was found for the awareness (F(3, 306) = 0.64, p=.59), ability (F(3, 306)= 1.57, p=.19) and the frequency (F(3, 306) = 1.19, p=.31). In conclusion, the analyses show that, across the four conditions, the demographic characteristics of the participants were equally distributed.

	Social proof + authority	Social proof	Authority	Control	
Ν	79	83	70	78	
M age	37.20 (13.66)	38.14 (13.79)	34.29 (13.28)	37.62 (12.44)	
% Female	72.2 %	77.1 %	67.1 %	70.5 %	
% Higher education	59.5 %	61.4 %	75.7 %	67.9 %	
M Awareness fake news	2.33 (0.79)	2.27 (0.73)	2.15 (0.71)	2.26 (0.82)	
M Ability recognize fake news	3.14 (0.89)	3.17 (0.89)	2.89 (0.90)	3.03 (0.84)	
M Frequency	1.69 (0.46)	1.76 (0.43)	1.80 (0.40)	1.68 (0.47)	

Table 5. Demographic characteristics of the participants.

3.5 Procedure

The experiment was embedded in a web-based questionnaire. The first section of the questionnaire contained a briefing outlining the procedure of the experiment. In order to avoid bias, participants were not informed about the real subject and the goals of the research prior to the experiment. Instead, they were informed that the research focused on their news consumption in social media. After the briefing, demographic questions were asked. After the demographic section, the four sections containing the Facebook posts were presented. Every participant saw the Facebook in a randomized display order. This was followed by questions about the awareness of the participant on fake news and their ability to recognize such

misinformation. At the end of the questionnaire, participants were informed about the research goals of the experiment and the fact that the information just obtained was false. After receiving all the information about the research, participants were offered the possibility to withdraw consent. The average duration of the experiment was 584 seconds (+- 10 minutes) with a standard deviation of 271 seconds (+- 4.5 minutes).

4. Results

This section presents the results of the research. A multivariate test for variance was conducted to examine whether the persuasive principles authority and social proof influence the dependent variables. It was also examined whether these two principles combined have an (interaction) effect on the dependent variables. The results presented in table 6 show a summary of the descriptive statistics of authority and social proof cues on the dependent variables. Table 7 presents a summary of the descriptive statistics per Facebook post. Table 8, consisting of the summary of the descriptive statistics of authority and social proof cues on the dependent variables are summary of the descriptive statistics of authority and social proof cues on the dependent variables.

Table 6. Summary of the descriptive statistics of authority and social proof cues on the dependent variables

	Cues of social proof				No cues of social proc		
	Ν	М	SD	Ν	М	SD	
Cues of authority							
Changing brand attitude	79	4.38	0.95	70	4.12	0.99	
Newsworthiness	79	4.08	1.32	70	3.96	1.27	
Credibility	79	3.94	1.16	70	3.78	1.07	
No cues of authority							
Changing brand attitude	83	4.33	0.99	78	4.27	0.97	
Newsworthiness	83	3.99	1.11	78	4.10	1.15	
Credibility	83	3.92	1.08	78	3.80	0.99	

All results are measured using a 7-point Likert-scale from (1) totally disagree to (7) totally agree

	N	М	SD
Overall			
Changing brand attitude	310	4.28	0.97
Newsworthiness	310	4.03	1.21
Credibility	310	3.86	1.07
Coca-Cola			
Changing brand attitude	310	3.20	1.39
Newsworthiness	310	3.94	1.54
Credibility	310	3.49	1.54
Houseparty			
Changing brand attitude	310	5.22	1.35
Newsworthiness	310	3.88	1.60
Credibility	310	4.07	1.36
Apple			
Changing brand attitude	310	3.95	1.39
Newsworthiness	310	3.99	1.54
Credibility	310	3.89	1.41
L'Oréal			
Changing brand attitude	310	4.75	1.49
Newsworthiness	310	4.33	1.61
Credibility	310	3.98	1.51

Table 7. Summary of the descriptive statistics per Facebook post

All results are measured using a 7-point Likert-scale from (1) totally disagree to (7) totally agree

4.2 Main effects

As the descriptive statistics for authority and social proof only differ slightly, it must be tested whether these differences are significant. In order to do so, a MANOVA test was conducted. The results are presented in table 9. To measure the general effect between authority and social proof and the dependent variables, the Wilk's Lambda is used.

Multivariate test		Wilks' Λ	F	df	Significance	η²
					(p)	
Wilk's Lambda	Authority	.99	0.10	3,304	.96	.00
	Social proof	.99	1.46	3,304	.23	.01
	Authority + social	.99	0.66	3,304	.58	.01
	proof					

Table 9. Multivariate test results

A Wilk's Lambda test shows that there is no significant main effect of authority on the combined dependent variables throughout ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,304) = 0.10, p = .96). In addition, there was no significant main effect of social proof found ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,304) = 1.46, p = .23), and there was also no significant interaction effect between the independent variables ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,304) = 0.66, p = .58).

Table 10 shows which dependent variables are affected by the independent variables. For the independent variable authority, the following has been observed. The main effect of authority on changing brand attitude (F(1,306) = 0.19, p = .66), perceived newsworthiness (F(1,306) = 0.02, p = .89) and perceived credibility (F(1,306) = 2.11, p = .99) is not significant. The first hypothesis "the use of authority positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media" can be rejected.

Likewise, the main effect of social proof on changing brand attitude (F(1,306) = 2.08, p = .15), perceived newsworthiness (F(1,306) = 0.00, p = .96) and perceived credibility (F(1,306) = 1.39, p = .24) is not significant. Therefore, also the second hypothesis "The use of social proof positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media" can be rejected.

		F	df	Significance (p)	η²
Authority					
	Changing brand attitude	0.19	1,306	.66	.00
	Newsworthiness	0.02	1,306	.89	.00
	Credibility	0.00	1,306	.99	.00
Social proof					
	Changing brand attitude	2.08	1,306	.15	.01
	Newsworthiness	0.00	1,306	.96	.00
	Credibility	1.39	1,306	.24	.01
Authority +					
social proof					
	Changing brand attitude	0.88	1,306	.35	.00
	Newsworthiness	0.68	1,306	.41	.00
	Credibility	0.01	1,306	.91	.00

Table 10. Univariate test results

4.3 Interaction effects authority and social proof

The results presented in table 9 and 10 show that there is no significant interaction effect of authority and social proof cues on changing brand attitude (F(1,306) = 0.88, p = .35), perceived newsworthiness (F(1,306) = 0.68, p = .41) and perceived credibility (F(1,306) = 0.01, p = .91). The last hypothesis is rejected.
4.4 Additional analyses

The hypotheses of this study are now tested. However, because all hypotheses needed to be rejected some additional tests are conducted. These tests are conducted in order to check if this information has an effect on the acceptance of fake news.

4.4.1 Gender

Analysis showed that gender has no effect on the acceptance of fake news. A Wilk's Lambda test shows that there is no significant main effect of gender on the combined dependent variables throughout ($\Lambda = 0.97$, F(6,610) = 1.50, p = .18). In addition, the main effect of gender on changing brand attitude (F(2,307) = 2.38, p = .09), impression of fake news (F(2,307) = 2.14, p = .12) and acceptance of fake news (F(2,307) = 0.92, p = .39) is not significant.

4.4.2 Highest level of education

To test whether the level of education of a participant influences the acceptance of fake news a MANOVA was conducted. A Wilk's Lambda test shows that there is no significant main effect of education on the combined dependent variables throughout ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,306) = 1.58, p = .19). In addition, the main effect of education on impression of fake news (F(1,308) = 0.58, p = .05) and acceptance of fake news (F(1,308) = 2.25, p = .16) is not significant. However, the effect of education on the changing brand attitude (F(1,308) = 3.92, p = < .05) is significant. Participants with a higher level of education had a lower changing brand attitude (M = 4.19, SD = 0.98) compared to participants who had a lower level of education (M = 4.3, SD = 0.95)

4.4.3 Awareness of fake news and the perceived ability to recognize it

Participants could give an indication on how aware they are of the spread of fake news and their ability to recognize such misinformation. In order to test whether this awareness and ability in the context of fake news influences the acceptance of fake news, a multivariate analysis is conducted. A Wilk's Lambda test shows that there is a significant main effect of awareness on the combined dependent variables throughout ($\Lambda = 0.97$, F(3,304) = 0.3.54, p = < .02). Likewise, there was a significant main effect of perceived ability to recognize fake news found ($\Lambda = 0.97$, F(3,304) = 3.15, p = < .03). However, there was no significant interaction effect between the awareness and perceived ability to recognize fake news ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,304) = 0.66, p = .58).

For the effect on the dependent variables separately, the following has been observed. The main effect of ability on changing brand attitude (F(1,306) = 2.02, p = .16) is not significant. The main effect of perceived ability on newsworthiness (F(1,306) = 10.55, p = <.01) and credibility (F(1,306) = 2.11, p = < .02) is significant.

For the perceived ability to recognize fake news, the main effect on newsworthiness (F(1,306) = 1.59, p = .21) is not significant. However, the main effect of perceived ability on changing brand attitude (F(1,306) = 8.51, p = < .01), and credibility (F(1,306) = 4.41, p = < .04) is significant. Table 10 shows that people who are less aware of fake news and indicated that they are limited in recognizing fake news had a higher acceptance score of the misinformation then those who are more aware of fake news and indicated to be capable of recognizing such misinformation.

	Ν	М	SD
Not aware of fake news			
Changing brand attitude	310	4.39	0.95
Newsworthiness	310	4.31	1.06
Credibility	310	4.05	0.96
Aware of fake news			
Changing brand attitude	310	4.19	0.99
Newsworthiness	310	3.83	1.27

Table 10. Summary of the descriptive statistics of awareness and ability on the dependent variables

Credibility	310	3.72	1.13
Low perceived ability to recognize fake news			
Changing brand attitude	310	4.37	0.92
Newsworthiness	310	4.09	1.16
Credibility	310	3.94	1.04
High perceived ability to recognize fake news			
Changing brand attitude	310	3.89	1.10
Newsworthiness	310	3.75	1.39
Credibility	310	3.53	1.18

All results are measured using a 7-point Likert-scale from (1) totally disagree to (7) totally agree

A follow-up test was conducted to see if participants who are less aware of fake news and indicated that they are not capable of recognizing fake news are influenced by the independent variables' authority and social proof. A Wilk's Lambda test shows that there is, indeed, a significant main effect of authority on the combined dependent variables throughout ($\Lambda = 0.93$, F(3,108) = 2.70, p = < .05) for this group of participants. However, there was no significant main effect of social proof found ($\Lambda = 0.97$, F(3,108) = 1.46, p = 1.18) and again there was also no significant interaction effect between the independent variables ($\Lambda = 0.99$, F(3,108) = 0.07, p = .98).

For the effect of authority on the dependent variables separately, the following has been observed. The main effect of authority on changing brand attitude (F(1,110) = 0.08, p = .79) is not significant. The main effect of authority on newsworthiness (F(1,110) = 3.91, p = < .05) and credibility (F(1,110) = 4.13, p = < .05) is significant. Table 11 presents that this group has overall a higher acceptance score of fake news when cues of authority were presented in the messages.

	Ν	М	SD
Cues of authority			
Changing brand attitude	58	4.43	1.04
Newsworthiness	58	4.50	0.98
Credibility	58	4.28	0.96
No cues of authority			
Changing brand attitude	56	4.47	0.88
Newsworthiness	56	4.11	1.07
Credibility	56	3.89	0.94

Table 11. Summary of descriptive statistics of authority on the dependent variables for participants who are less aware of the spread of fake news and able to recognize it

All results are measured using a 7-point Likert-scale from (1) totally disagree to (7) totally agree

5. Discussion

5.1 Main findings

This study aimed to shed light on the persuasiveness of fake news. Previous studies on the acceptance of (mis)information argued that due to information overload on social media, people are often forced to use quick heuristics to obtain information and make an intuitive evaluation in order to decide whether to trust or distrust the message (Horne & Adali; Greifeneder et al, 2021). However, these previous studies did not specify how these heuristics can be influenced. The goal of this study was to find out whether participants have a higher acceptance of fake news when the news messages contain cues of the persuasive principles' authority and social proof than when the messages lack of these types of cues.

Table 12 gives an overview the three hypotheses and the extent to which the findings of this study confirm them. The first hypothesis, that cues of authority in a fake news message positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media, is only partly supported by the data. Only if a person is not aware of the existence of fake news and has a hard time recognizing fake news, does it appear to make a difference whether cues of authority are present in the fake news message. This finding supports the Principles of Persuasion theory of Cialdini (2007) and is in line with earlier research on the acceptance of misinformation (Greifeneder et al., 2021). The lack of effect of authority for people who are more familiar with the concept fake news perhaps already have built on some persuasion knowledge and are therefore less susceptible to this persuasive principle. Another explanation for the lack of effect could be the fact that today's society is increasingly made aware of the presence of more points of view in every topic and that there is not just one expert for every topic (van Leeuwen, 2007). On top of that, van Leeuwen (2007) claims that experts and their opinions are increasingly being questioned. This development makes the influence of expert authority waning slowly (van Leeuwen, 2007). The peripheral cues of authority took the shape of an expert or of an

organization appointed to an authority role. The declining trust in such types of authority may explain why the hypothesis is only partly supported by the data collected in this research.

Hypotheses	Result
H1: The use of authority positively influences people's acceptance of fake	Partially supported
news on social media.	
H2: The use of social proof positively influences people's acceptance of fake	Not supported
news on social media.	
H3: The effect of authority in combination with social proof results in a higher	Not supported
acceptance of fake news on social media as compared to when the two	
principles are used independently.	

Table 12. Hypotheses and Results

The second hypothesis, according to which the cues of social proof in a fake news message positively influences people's acceptance of fake news on social media, is not supported by the data. This finding does not support the Principles of Persuasion theory of Cialdini (2007) and it is not in line with earlier research on the effect of social proof on social media behaviors (Hilverda et al., 2018). In different studies, social proof has proven to be more and more important as a peripheral cue on social media (Hilverda et al., 2018). These studies investigated evident examples of social proof such as comments and reactions of friends. In the study at hand, subtle hints of social proof such as the numbers of likes and comments were used. The participants did not know from whom these comments were originated and if they were positive or negative. However, other studies that focused on the effect of social proof on social media behavior claimed that whenever more evident examples of social proof are missing, subtle hints will be effective (Muscanell et al., 2014). The results of the study at hand were not in line with this conclusion and cues of social proof in fake news post did not lead to a higher acceptance of the misinformation.

The third hypothesis and, specifically, that the effect of authority in combination with social proof results in a higher acceptance of fake news on social media as compared to when the two principles are used independently, is not supported by the data. According to Cialdini, the principles of persuasion are most effective when they are combined (Cialdini, 2001). Therefore, it was expected that, when the two peripheral cues were combined in a fake news message, there would have been an interaction effect that resulted in a higher acceptance of the information. But, contrary to the expectation, no interaction effect between authority and social proof was detected. The results suggest that cues of authority and social proof both separately as in combination do not influence the acceptance of fake news on social media.

Lastly, additional analyses were performed to see if other factors than the hypothesized ones might had an influence on the acceptance of fake news. No effect was found for the demographic variables gender and educational level on the acceptance of fake news. It did not matter if a participant was male, or female and their level of education was not significantly relevant for the acceptance of fake news. During the experiment, it was measured how aware participants are that fake news exists and gets frequently spread on social media. In addition, participants were able to give an indication of how much they considered themselves capable of recognizing fake news. An additional analysis showed that people that are less aware of the existence of fake news and indicted that they are not capable of recognizing fake news had overall a higher acceptance then those who are more familiar with the concept of fake news. In the paper at hand, it has been mentioned before that in the context of marketing and advertising, consumers develop knowledge about persuasion tactics. This knowledge helps the consumer to realize when and how marketeers are trying to influence them (Friestad & Wright, 1994). People that are already aware of the existence of fake news perhaps already developed knowledge on how to recognize fake news and are, therefore, better able to withstand the persuasion tactics. As mentioned above, a follow-up test showed that the group of participants

with less awareness of fake news was thereby also influenced by the persuasive principle of authority.

In conclusion, this study claims that people who are not aware of the spread of fake news on social media and who indicate that they are not able to recognize such misinformation have a higher acceptance of fake news then others. This group is also influenced by the persuasive principle of authority and will have a higher acceptance of a fake news message when cues of authority are presented in the message.

5.2 Theoretical implications

The findings of this research have several theoretical implications. For instance, still little is known about the acceptance of fake news. The results of this study imply that there is a significant difference in the acceptance of fake news between people who are aware of the spread of fake news and those who are not aware and feel like they are less capable in recognizing such misinformation. This finding suggests that it if people are informed about fake news and are aware that not all the news they read on social media can be trusted, they are less likely to accept fake news.

In addition, the research demonstrates that, when people are not aware of fake news, they can be influenced by the principle of authority. This supports partly the Principles of Persuasion theory (Cialdini, 2007). However, the persuasive principles of authority and social proof may not be effective in the context of fake news for those who are conscious of fake news. Previous studies suggest that, in the context of accepting information online, people experience an information overload that forces them to use quick heuristics in order to accept or reject the information. Information processing happens mainly on intuition and a more critical analysis is done by a person only if it suspects that something is wrong (Horne & Adali, 2017; Greifeneder, 2021). Cialdini (2007) claimed that a way to capitalize on these heuristics

is to use persuasive tactics, such as authority and social proof and combining these tactics even leads to better results (Cialdini, 2007). This study did not find any evidence that cues of authority and social proof, separately or combined, influence the acceptance of fake news for people who are aware of the spread of fake news.

5.3 Limitations and further research

Several limitations can be addressed regarding this study. Firstly, in the beginning of this research it was addressed that due to an information overload on social media, people are often forced to use quick heuristics to obtain information and decide whether they trust the message or not. These heuristics are often mental shortcuts and look for peripheral cues. Partly because of this information it was decided to investigate the effect of the persuasive principles of authority and social proof on the acceptance of fake news. However, the materials used in the research did not fully replicate a social media timeline and the information overload that this entails. Therefore, participants perhaps did not use quick heuristics to evaluate the information like expected in real life. Another limitation in this case is that the cognitive load for the participants was not measured during the experiment. Therefore, it cannot be said with certainty that the participants did not experience an information overload. Future research on the acceptance of fake news could aim at fully replicating a social media timeline to simulate an information overload and afterwards measuring the cognitive load. This can be done for example with the rating scale developed by Paas (1992). This scale is designed to measure task difficulty, where participants can indicate on a Likert scale the mental effort they had to use to perform for the task (Paas, 1992). By letting participants indicate their mental effort, it can be seen if this perhaps makes a difference for the effect of the independent variables.

Secondly, in the experiment two types of social proof were combined and used to manipulate the fake news posts. These types of social proof consisted out of hints of social

proof in the written content itself and out of subtle cues of social proof, namely the number of likes and commends. For this last type of social proof, when it comes to the effect of social proof on social media behaviors, several studies showed that comments and reactions can have an impact on a person's opinion and behavior (Hilverda et al., 2018; Muscanell et al., 2014). Research of Muscanell et al. (2014) claims that when this type of social proof is not available, subtle cues of social proof such as numbers of likes and comments are effective. In the research, the subtle cues of social proof were used to manipulate the posts instead of personalized comments and likes. Cialdini (2007) claims that the principle social proof works most effectively when people feel that they are like the other. It is possible that, if more obvious and personalized cues of social proof were used, the results would have turned out differently. Personalizing the cues of social proof for every participant in an experiment is not doable. However, presenting actual comments that are not anonymous in which a participant can see the opinions of others might result in a higher effect of social proof. Due to the reason that subtle cues of social proof were proven to be effective in other studies they were chosen as way to manipulate the messages. Because no effect is found for social proof a recommendation for further research would be to use identified comments and likes that present an opinion about the fake news message. In addition, for this research two types of social proof were combinedly used into one manipulation. In the view of further research, it would be recommended to use these types of social proof separately. In the case that an effect will be found for social proof it will this way be clear if the effect occurs due to the comments and likes or because of the signs of social proof in the message itself.

Lastly, during the experiment, a manipulation check was not used. The reason for this was because the researcher was afraid that, with a total of four different Facebook posts, the participants would realize after one or two manipulation checks that the posts were manipulated. By, for example, asking after every Facebook post is they saw likes and comments

in a message, this could bias the way they looked at the upcoming fake news posts. In retrospect, it would have been good to confirm whether the participants perceived the manipulations or not. Not knowing for sure whether the participants noticed the cues of social proof and authority is a limitation of the research. In this light, a recommendation for further research would be to add a manipulation check. When a between-subjects design will be used, the manipulation check could be presented at the end of experiment. Since all posts will be manipulated in the same way, one manipulation check can be effective without biasing the experiment.

5.5 Conclusion

The aim of this study was to research if the persuasive principles, authority and social proof, influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands. Previous literature on the acceptance of (mis)information indicated that, due to the information overload on social media, people tend to use quick heuristics in order to decide to accept a message or not. An important motivation to investigate these principles is because the researcher believes that when there is a clearer understanding of what makes fake news so compelling to accept, people can be informed and protected in a better way against fake news.

Contrary to expectations, the peripheral cues of authority and social proof do not influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands. Nevertheless, the outcomes of this research did show the importance of making people aware of the existence of fake news and informing people on how to recognize misinformation. People that are already informed about the existence and spreading of fake news online are less likely to accept the misinformation presented to them. People that are less aware and do not know how to verify the trustworthiness of news have a higher chance to accept the fake news they read online. If this fake news contains cues of authority, the result will be a even higher acceptance among this group. In conclusion, this study claims that the persuasive principles of authority and social proof will not influence Dutch social media users' acceptance of fake news about brands if these people are already aware of the existence of fake news. However, social media users that are not familiar with the concept can be influenced by the principle of authority and have in general a higher acceptance of fake news then people who are familiar with fake news. In order to combat the negative effects of fake news about brands it is important that society keeps getting informed about fake news and misinformation and tools are provided to recognize such fake news.

References

- Allcott, H., & Gentzkow, M. (2017). Social media and fake news in the 2016 election. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 31(2), 211-236. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/jep.31.2.211
- Appelman, A., & Sundar, S. S. (2016). Measuring message credibility: Construction and validation of an exclusive scale.

Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly, 93(1), 59-79.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699015606057

Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of independence and conformity: 1. A minority of one against a unanimous majority.

Psychological Monographs: General and Applied, 70(9), 1-70.

https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093718

- Bahadur, R. D. (2019). Newsworthiness as an internet-era mitigant of implicit bias. University of Missouri-Kansas City Law Review, 888(1), 1-35 http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3368966
- Berthon, P., Treen, E., & Pitt, L. (2018). How truthiness, fake news and post-fact endanger brands and what to do about it.

GfK Marketing Intelligence Review, 10(1), 18-23.

https://doi.org/ 10.2478/gfkmir-2018-0003

- Chung, J. C., Nam, Y. & Stefanone, M. A. (2012). Exploring online news credibility: The relative influence of traditional and technological factors.
 Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, *17*(2), 171-186 https//doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2011.01565.x
- Cialdini, R. B. (2001). The science of persuasion.

Scientific American, 284(2), 76-81.

https//doi.org/10.1038/SCIENTIFICAMERICAN0201-76

- Cialdini, R. B. (2007). Influence: The psychology of persuasion. Harper Collins Publishers.
- Commissariaat voor de Media. (2020). Digital news report 2020: Interesse in nieuws in Nederland blijft hoog en stabiel.

https://www.cvdm.nl/actueel/digital-news-report-2020-interesse-in-nieuws-innederland-blijft-hoog-en-stabiel

Flostrand, A., Pitt, L., & Kiezmann, J. (2019). Fake news and brand management: A delphi study of impact, vulnerability and mitigation.

Journal of Product & Brand Management, 29(2), 246-254.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-12-2018-2156

Friestad, M., & Wright, P. (1994). The persuasion knowledge model: How people cope with persuasion attempts.

Journal of consumer research, 21(1), 1-31.

Gabielkov, M., Ramachandran, A., Chaintreau, A., & Legout, A. (2016). Social clicks: What and who gets read on Twitter?.

Performance Evaluation Review, 44(1), 179-192.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2896377.2901462

- Greifeneder, R., Jaffe, M., Newman, E., & Schwarz, N. (2021). *The psychology of fake news: Accepting, sharing, and correcting misinformation*. Routledge.
- Grice, H. P. (1975). Logic and conversation. In P. Cole, & J. Morgan, Syntax and semantics 3: Speech acts (pp. 41-58). Academic Press.
- Guzmán, S. (2014). Substantive-rational authority: The missing fourth pure type in Weber's typology of legitimate domination.

Journal of Classical Sociology, 15(1), 73-95.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468795X14531695

- Hargreaves, S. (2008, 3 October). *Steve jobs rumor causes brief fall in apple stock*. https:// money.cnn.com/2008/10/03/technology/apple/
- Hilverda, F., Kuttschreuter, M., & Giebels, E. (2018). The effect of online social proof regarding organic food: Comments and likes on Facebook.*Frontiers in Communication*, 3(30).

https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2018.00030

Horne, B., & Adali, S. (2017). This just in: Fake news packs a lot in title, uses simpler, repetitive content in text body, more similar to satire than real news.
Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, 11(1), 759-766.

https://ojs.aaai.org/index.php/ICWSM/article/view/14976

Jang, S., & Kim, J. (2018). Third person effects of fake news: Fake news regulation and media literacy interventions.

Computers in Human Behavior, 80, 295-302.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.11.034

Lazer, D. M., Baum, M. A., Benkler, Y., Berinsky, A. J., Greenhill, K., Menczer, F., & Sunstein, C. R. (2018). The science of fake news. *Science*, 359(6380), 1094-1096.
https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.aao2998

Lee, K., Lee, B., & Oh, W. (2015). Thumbs up, sales up? The contingent effect of facebook likes on sales performance in social commerce.
Journal of Management Information Systems, 32(4), 109-143.
https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2015.1138372

Menczer, F., & Hills, T. (2020). Information overload helps fake news spread, and social media knows it: Understanding how algorithm manipulators exploit our cognitive vulnerabilities empowers us to fight back Facebook.

Scientific American, 323(6), 54-61.

https:// doi:10.1038/scientificamerican1220-54

- Mills, A. (2012). Virality in social media: the SPIN framework.
 Journal of Public Affair, 12(2), 162-169.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1418
- Muscanell, N. L., Guadagno, R. E., & Murphy, S. (2014). Weapons of influence misused: a social influence analysis of why people fall prey to internet scams.
 Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 8(7), 388–396.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12115
- Obada, D. R. (2019). Sharing fake news about brands on social media: a new conceptual model based on flow theory.

Journal of the Seminar of Discursive Logic, Argumentation Theory and Rhetoric, 17(2), 144-166.

- Paas, F. G. W. C. (1992). Training strategies for attaining transfer of problem-solving skill in statistics: a cognitive-load approach.
 Journal of educational psychology, 84(4), 429-434.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.84.4.429
- Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion. *Communication and persuasion* (pp. 1-24). Springer https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4964-1_1
- Reilly, L. (2018). F for Fake: Propaganda! hoaxing! hacking! partisanship! and activism! In the fake news ecology.

The Journal of American Culture, *41*(2), 139-152

https://doi.org/10.1111/jacc.12834

Ritzer, G. (1991). Structures of authority. In *Sociological Theory* (pp. 128-136). Mcgraw-Hill College; 3rd edition.

Robinson, S., & DeShano, C. (2011). Anyone can know: Citizen journalism and the interpretive community of the mainstream press.
Journalism: Theory, Practice & Criticism, 12(8), 963-982.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884911415973

Schwarz, N. (1994). Judgment in a social context: Biases, shortcomings, and the logic of conversation.

Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 26(1), 123-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60153-7

Siering, M., Munterman, J., & Grčar, M. (2021). Design principles for robust fraud detection: The case of stock market manipulations.

Journal of the Association for Information Systems, 22(1), 156-178.

https://aisel.aisnet.org/jais/vol22/iss1/4

Sperber, D., & Wilson, D. (1986). *Relevance : communication and cognition*. Harvard University Press.

Sundar, S. S. (1998). Effect of source attribution on perception of online news stories. Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly, 75(1), 55-68. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769909807500108

Swenson, A. (2020, 25 August). False claim of human meat in McDonald's factories stems from old hoax. https://apnews.com/article/9233643423

Tandoc, E. C., & Lim, Z. W. (2017). Defining "fake news".

Digital Journalism, 6(2), 137-153.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2017.1360143

- The Guardian. (2016, November 29). *Kellogg pulls ads from Breitbart news: Site isn't 'aligned with our values'*. https://www.theguardian.com/media/2016/nov/29/kelloggpulls-ads-from-breitbart-news-alt-right
- University of Baltimore; CHEQ. (2019). *The Economic cost of bad actors on the internet; Fake news 2019*.
 - https://s3.amazonaws.com/media.mediapost.com/uploads/EconomicCostOfFakeNews. pdf
- University of British Columbia. (2017). Fake news can backfire for companies caught in the Act.

ScienceDaily. Retrieved May 26, 2021 from

www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2017/11/171127135752.htm

van Leeuwen, T. (2007). Legitimation in discourse and communication.

Discourse & Communication, 1(1), 91-112.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1750481307071986

- Vanwesenbeeck, I., Walrave, M. & Ponnet, K. (2017). Children and advergames: the role of product involvement, prior brand attitude, persuasion knowledge and game attitude in purchase intentions and changing attitudes
 International Journal of Advertising, 23(4), 520-541
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2016.1176637
- Weber, M. (1968). Economy and society; an outline of interpretive sociology. Bedminster Press.
- Wood, J. V. (1996). What is social comparison and how should we study it? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22(5), 520-537.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167296225009

Appendix 1 – Fake news posts Facebook

Apple- no manipulations



Translation

If you were Apple, what tricks would you use to increase the sales of your latest product? Knowing big companies, they use all possible tricks to make more profit. Apple even goes so far that they make older models slower through software updates just before the release of a new device.

Apple - authority

Translation

If you were Apple, what tricks would you use to increase the sales of your latest product? Knowing big companies, they use all possible tricks to make more profit. Apple even goes so far that they make older models slower through software updates just before the release of a new device. This was shown in a research by Harvard University.



Apple - social proof



Daan Groenling June 28, 17:24 · ©

Als je Apple was, welke trucs zou je dan gebruiken om de verkoop van je nieuwste product te verhogen? Grote bedrijven kennende, maken ze gebruik van alle mogelijke trucs om meer winst te kunnen maken. Apple weet het zelfs zo bont te maken door vlak voor het uitbrengen van een nieuw toestel oudere modellen langzamer te maken door middel van software updates. Duizenden gedupeerden willen nu een rechtszaak aanspannen tegen de tech giant en verwachten een compensatie.



Translation

...

If you were Apple, what tricks would you use to increase sales of your latest product? Knowing big companies, they use all possible tricks to make more profit. Apple even goes so far that they make older models slower through software updates just before the release of a new device. Thousands of victims now want to file a lawsuit against the tech giant and expect a compensation.

Apple- authority & social proof

Translation

If you were Apple, what tricks would you use to increase sales of your latest product? Knowing big companies, they use all possible tricks to make more profit. Apple even goes so far as to make older models slower through software updates just before the release of a new device. This has emerged from research by Harvard University. Thousands of victims now want to file a lawsuit against the tech giant and expect compensation.

Coca-Cola - no manipulations



Daan Groenling June 28, 17:24 · **S**

Als je Apple was, welke trucs zou je dan gebruiken om de verkoop van je nieuwste product te verhogen? Grote bedrijven kennende, maken ze gebruik van alle mogelijke trucs om meer winst te kunnen maken. Apple weet het zelfs zo bont te maken door vlak voor het uitbrengen van een nieuw toestel oudere modellen langzamer te maken via software updates. Dit blijkt uit onderzoek van Harvard University. Duizenden gedupeerden willen nu een rechtszaak aanspannen tegen de tech giant en verwachten een compensatie.



. . .



Rikki Schlesinger May 15, 15:36 · **⑤**

Er heeft vandaag een grote terugroepactie plaatsgevonden door Coca-Cola nadat is vastgesteld dat duizenden flessen drinkwater besmet zijn met de parasiet giardia intestinalis. Honderden mensen zijn in het ziekenhuis opgenomen met symptomen zoals koorts, braken en diarree. Mensen die het water hebben gedronken, worden geadviseerd bij klachten contact op te nemen met hun huisarts.



🖒 Like

Comment Share

Translation

A major recall has taken place today by Coca-Cola after thousands of bottles of drinking water were found to be contaminated with the parasite giardia intestinalis. Hundreds of people have been hospitalized with symptoms including fever, vomiting and diarrhea. People who have drunk the water are advised to contact their GP in case of symptoms.

Coca-Cola - authority

Translation

A major recall took place today by Coca-Cola after thousands of bottles of drinking water were found to be contaminated with the parasite giardia intestinalis. Hundreds of people have been hospitalized with parasitic symptoms including fever, vomiting and diarrhea. The Dutch Society for Parasitology advises people who have drunk the water to contact their GP in case of complaints.



Rikki Schlesinger May 15, 15:36 · ⑤

Er heeft vandaag een grote terugroepactie plaatsgevonden door Coca-Cola nadat werd vastgesteld dat duizenden flessen drinkwater besmet waren met de parasiet giardia intestinalis. Honderden mensen zijn in het ziekenhuis opgenomen met parasitaire symptomen zoals koorts, braken en diarree. De Nederlandse Vereniging voor Parasitologie, adviseert mensen die het water hebben gedronken om bij klachten contact op te nemen met hun huisarts.



🖒 Like 🛛 💭 Comment

🖒 Share

Coca-Cola – social proof



Rikki Schlesinger May 15, 10:46 · 🚱

Er heeft vandaag een grote terugroepactie plaatsgevonden door Coca-Cola nadat is vastgesteld dat duizenden flessen drinkwater besmet zijn met de parasiet giardia intestinalis. Honderden mensen zijn in het ziekenhuis opgenomen met symptomen zoals koorts, braken en diarree. Ook social media loopt vol met berichten van mensen die ziek zijn geworden. Mensen die het water hebben gedronken, worden geadviseerd bij klachten contact op te nemen met hun huisarts.



Translation

A major recall has taken place today by Coca-Cola after thousands of bottles of drinking water were found to be contaminated with the parasite giardia intestinalis. Hundreds of people have been hospitalized with symptoms including fever, vomiting and diarrhea. Social media is also full of reports of people who have become ill after drinking the water. People who have drunk the water are advised to contact their GP in case of symptoms.

Coca-Cola – authority & social proof

Translation

A major recall has taken place today by Coca-Cola after thousands of bottles of drinking water were found to be contaminated with the parasite giardia intestinalis. Hundreds of people have been hospitalized with symptoms such as fever, vomiting and diarrhea. Social media is also full of messages from people who have become ill. People who have drunk the water are advised to contact their GP in case of complaints.



Rikki Schlesinger

Er heeft vandaag een grote terugroepactie plaatsgevonden door Coca-Cola nadat is vastgesteld dat duizenden flessen drinkwater besmet zijn met de parasiet giardia intestinalis. Honderden mensen zijn in het ziekenhuis opgenomen met symptomen zoals koorts, braken en diarree. Ook social media loopt vol met berichten van mensen die ziek zijn geworden. De Nederlandse Vereniging voor Parasitologie adviseert mensen die het water hebben gedronken om bij klachten contact op te nemen met hun huisarts.



Houseparty – no manipulations

1

Tom Howitt August 18, 13:58 · ©

De social network app Houseparty groeide de afgelopen maanden enorm mede dankzij de pandemie. Maar dat kan weleens snel afgelopen zijn. Gebruikers maken zich namelijk zorgen omdat de app wachtwoorden en gegevens doorverkoopt aan derden. Na het installeren van de app zijn bij meerdere mensen de accounts gehackt van o.a. Ebay en Instagram.



🖒 Like

□ Comment Share

Translation

The social network app Houseparty has grown enormously in recent months, partly thanks to the pandemic. But that could soon be over. Users are worried because the app sells passwords and data to third parties. After installing the app, the accounts of several people were hacked, including those of eBay and Instagram.

Houseparty – authority

Translation

The social network app Houseparty has grown enormously in recent months, partly thanks to the pandemic. But that could soon be over. Users are worried because the app sells passwords and data to third parties. After installing the app, the accounts of several people were hacked, including those of eBay and Instagram. The Dutch privacy watchdog warns of the dangers of the app.



```
Tom Howitt
August 18, 11:18 · ()
```

De social network app Houseparty groeide de afgelopen maanden enorm mede dankzij de pandemie. Maar dat kan weleens snel afgelopen zijn. Gebruikers maken zich namelijk zorgen omdat de app wachtwoorden en gegevens doorverkoopt aan derden. Na het installeren van de app zijn bij meerdere mensen de accounts gehackt van o.a. Ebay en Instagram. De Nederlandse privacy-toezichthouder waarschuwt voor de gevaren van de app.



Houseparty – social proof



Tom Howitt

August 18, 11:15 · 6

De social network app Houseparty groeide de afgelopen maanden enorm mede dankzij de pandemie. Maar dat kan weleens snel afgelopen zijn. Gebruikers maken zich namelijk zorgen omdat de app wachtwoorden en gegevens doorverkoopt aan derden. Na het installeren van de app zijn bij meerdere mensen de accounts gehackt van o.a. Ebay en Instagram. Gebruikers verwijderen nu massaal hun accounts en stappen over op andere apps.



Translation

The social network app Houseparty has grown enormously in recent months, partly thanks to the pandemic. But that could soon be over. Users are worried because the app sells passwords and data to third parties. After installing the app, the accounts of several people were hacked, including those of eBay and Instagram. The Dutch privacy watchdog warns of the dangers of the app. House party accounts are now being deleted and many people are switching to alternatives such as FaceTime.

Houseparty – authority & social proof

Translation

The social network app Houseparty has grown enormously in recent months, partly thanks to the pandemic. But that could soon be over. Users are worried because the app sells passwords and data to third parties. After installing the app, the accounts of several people were hacked, including those of eBay and Instagram. The Dutch privacy watchdog warns of the dangers of the app. Users are now deleting their accounts and switching to other apps.



Tom Howitt August 18, 11:16 · 🚱

De social network app Houseparty groeide de afgelopen maanden enorm mede dankzij de pandemie. Maar dat kan weleens snel afgelopen zijn. Gebruikers maken zich namelijk zorgen omdat de app wachtwoorden en gegevens doorverkoopt aan derden. Na het installeren van de app zijn bij meerdere mensen de accounts gehackt van o.a. Ebay en Instagram. De Nederlandse privacy-toezichthouder waarschuwt voor de gevaren van de app. Gebruikers verwijderen nu massaal hun accounts en stappen over op andere apps.



L'Oréal – no manipulation

Jeane Febru

Jeanette Stevens February 7, 12:38 · 🕥

L'Oréal maakt zich schuldig aan het testen van make-up op dieren. Het bedrijf zegt tegen dierenmishandeling te zijn, maar test toch veel producten op katten. L'Oréal zegt dat dit noodzakelijk is omdat de producten anders niet op de Chinese markt verkocht mogen worden. De dieren leven in verschrikkelijke omstandigheden en daarom roep ik iedereen op om het merk te vragen te stoppen met deze wrede testen, help jij ook?



Translation

L'Oréal is guilty of testing make-up on animals. The company says it is against animal abuse, but nevertheless tests many products on cats. L'Oréal says that this is necessary because otherwise the products cannot be sold on the Chinese market. The animals live in terrible conditions and therefore I call on everyone to ask the brand to stop these cruel tests.



Translation

L'Oréal is guilty of testing make-up on animals, the NCad reports. The company says it is against animal cruelty, but still tests many products on cats. L'Oréal says this is necessary because otherwise the products cannot be sold on the Chinese market. The animals live in terrible conditions and therefore I call on everyone to ask the brand to stop these cruel tests.



Jeanette Stevens February 7, 10:21 · 🚱

L'Oréal maakt zich schuldig aan het testen van make-up op dieren, dit meldt het NCad. Het bedrijf zegt tegen dierenmishandeling te zijn, maar test toch veel producten op katten. L'Oréal zegt dat dit noodzakelijk is omdat de producten anders niet op de Chinese markt verkocht mogen worden. De dieren leven in verschrikkelijke omstandigheden en daarom roep ik iedereen op om het merk te vragen te stoppen met deze wrede testen! Ondertussen hebben al meer dan 3.000 mensen de petitie ondertekend, help jij ook?



L'Oréal – social proof



Jeanette Stevens February 7, 10:18 · ©

L'Oréal maakt zich schuldig aan het testen van make-up op dieren. Het bedrijf zegt tegen dierenmishandeling te zijn, maar test toch veel producten op katten. L'Oréal zegt dat dit noodzakelijk is omdat de producten anders niet op de Chinese markt verkocht mogen worden. De dieren leven in verschrikkelijke omstandigheden en daarom roep ik iedereen op om het merk te vragen te stoppen met deze wrede testen! Ondertussen hebben al meer dan 3.000 mensen de petitie ondertekend, help jij ook?



Translation

L'Oréal is guilty of testing make-up on animals, the NCad reports. The company says it is against animal cruelty, but still tests many products on cats. L'Oréal says this is necessary because otherwise the products cannot be sold on the Chinese market. The animals live in terrible conditions and so I urge everyone to ask the brand to stop these cruel tests! More than 3,000 people have already signed the petition, will you help?

L'Oréal – authority & social proof

Translation

L'Oréal is guilty of testing make-up on animals, the NCad reports. The company says it is against animal cruelty, but still tests many products on cats. L'Oréal says this is necessary because otherwise the products cannot be sold on the Chinese market. The animals live in terrible conditions and so I urge everyone to ask the brand to stop these cruel tests! More than 3,000 people have already signed the petition, will you help?



L'Oréal maakt zich schuldig aan het testen van make-up op dieren, dit meldt het NCad. Het bedrijf zegt tegen dierenmishandeling te zijn, maar test toch veel producten op katten. L'Oréal zegt dat dit noodzakelijk is omdat de producten anders niet op de Chinese markt verkocht mogen worden. De dieren leven in verschrikkelijke omstandigheden en daarom roep ik iedereen op om het merk te vragen te stoppen met deze wrede testen! Ondertussen hebben al meer dan 3.000 mensen de petitie ondertekend, help jij ook?



Nina Perik UNIVERSITY OF TWENT

Appendix - Table 8

Table 8. Summary of the descriptive statistics of authority and social proof cues on the dependent variables per Facebook post

	Cues of s	Cues of social proof		No cues of social proof	
	М	SD	М	SD	
Facebook post Coca-Cola					
Cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	3.22	1.54	3.02	1.30	
Newsworthiness	3.97	1.68	3.83	1.56	
Credibility	3.54	1.72	3.36	1.42	
No cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	3.26	1.31	3.27	1.40	
Newsworthiness	3.94	1.46	4.00	1.47	
Credibility	3.61	1.43	3.44	1.57	
Facebook post L'Oréal					
Cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	4.89	1.61	4.57	1.38	
Newsworthiness	4.44	1.61	4.31	1.58	
Credibility	4.13	1.43	3.79	1.52	
No cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	4.79	1.48	4.71	1.50	
Newsworthiness	4.31	1.62	4.24	1.67	
Credibility	3.98	1.56	4.01	1.52	
Facebook post Houseparty					
Cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	5.29	1.36	5.30	1.33	
Newsworthiness	3.86	1.76	3.97	1.53	
Credibility	3.97	1.48	4.23	1.21	
No cues of authority					
Changing brand attitude	5.06	1.37	5.24	1.36	
Newsworthiness	3.66	1.46	4.03	1.67	
	4.10	1.29	4.00	1.44	
na Perik UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE					